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INTRODUCTION

The book 'Ukraine's Crimes Against Humanity (2022-2023)' contains
more than 400 testimonies of victims and eyewitnesses of Ukrainian war
crimes and terrorist acts against civilians, committed between 2022 and
2023. These testimonies have been collected by various public initiatives
and organizations, including the Infernational Public Tribunal on the
Crimes of Ukrainian Neo-Nazis and Their Accomplices, the Foundation
for the Study of Democracy, and many others. The non-governniental
nature of the work of these organizations, and limited resources has
allowed only a small number of the tens of thousands of Ukrainian war
crimes to be documented.

The evidence of crimes presented in this book contains direct speech
— the accounts of victims and witnesses of crimes — and is classified
according to the types of crimes under international humanitarian law.
In each case photographs and full details of the victims and witnesses are
provided, allowing them to be re-interviewed both by the media and by
national or international judicial structures.

The accounts presented in this book testify to massive Ukrainian war
crimes, which under international humanitarian law are classified as
crimes against humanity and have no statute of limitations.

M. Grigoriev

President of the Foundation for the Study of Democracy



DELIBERATE KILLINGS AND SHOOTINGS
OF PEACEFUL CITIZENS
(from small arms, hand weapons, multiple
launch rocket system, artillery and mortar fire)

The IV Geneva Convention determines a need to provide protection
to civilians. To this end, “encroachments on life and physical integrity,
in particular all types of murder, will be prohibited at all times and
everywhere”.

Atrticle 147 of the IV Geneva Convention also states that intentional
killing is a serious offence.

According to the International humanitarian law certain categories
of population, such as women and children, should have particular
respect and protection. Children should get necessary care and help.

Numerous testimonies' of victims and eyewitnesses collected
by the International Public Tribunal on Crimes of the Ukrainian
Neo-Nazi and their accomplices, prove that from 2014 the Armed
Forces of Ukraine (AFU) systematically and purposefully (with full
understanding of the non-military status of the victims) killed and
shelled from small arms, artillery and mortar fire with the aim of killing
the civilian population. They also used multiple launch rocket systems
and unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs). Snipers of the AFU particularly
targeted women and children. In many cases such killings took place
during the evacuation of civilians.

"' A number of videos of interviews with witnesses and victims are given
in the Telegram channel WAR CRIMES IN UKRAINE (@grigoriev_maxim).



Testimony 1

Dmitry Valeryevich Bannikov (42 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Artyomovsk

“Ukrainians fired at us when we were
being evacuated. They equipped a firing
post in the neighboring place. Now I
understand what could have happened
to us. We were waiting for Russians up
to the last moment. We were evacuated
on 10 March 2023. In the morning of
that day we went down to the basement.
Later we heard that Russians were
outside. We shouted that there were women and children there in the
basement. The Russians heard us. I opened the door of the basement
and two Russians came in. They started taking us outside. When
Ukrainian snipers started targeting us, it was really horrible.

There was a case in the town Opytnoye. Ukrainian aircraft levelled
the three-storied building and killed six or seven people who were in
the basement. People tried to dig them out. Later Ukrainian snipers
started shooting at those who were sorting out rubble with people.
Snipers shot at one man, he was taken to the hospital, but still died.
My schoolmate in town Budyonovka was also shot by a Ukrainian
sniper. He wanted to cross the street.

On 15 March 2023 my other schoolmate arrived and told me that
Romka Turov was killed. He came out in the street and wanted to run
from one house to another, but the bullet hit him. In about two hours
they came up to him, but he was already dead. They covered him with
a blanket.

Another family is the Scheglovs. His godfather’s father was shot
in his arm by the sniper. When they moved to another basement, his
godfather’s father went to check what happened to his house where
Ukrainian fighters moved in. When he got to the house he felt a sharp
pain in his arm. The Ukrainian sniper shot him in his right arm. It was
in the middle of February. His name was Viktor Michailovich Scheglov,
he was about 60 years old. Soon after that his house was burned.




When the Russians took us out of the basement, a nearby sniper was
shooting at us. Later we realised that he was shooting from the kinder-
garten where he climbed up through the chimney. Then a drone spotted
us and launched mines at us. Russians said that we should stand and
listen, and come out very quietly and in the open space there should be
1,5—2 meters between us, then the sniper would not manage to hit us”.

Testimony 2

Tatyana Nikolayevna Koryak (64 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Artyomovsk, Krasnoflotskaya Street

“Ukrainian fighters were firing at
houses and windows from automatic
guns. There was an empty house nearby.
Its owners moved to Ukraine territory,
so a machine gunner settled there.
During the month he was coming into
different houses and shooting around at
houses and windows. We were sleeping
in the child’s room and heard in the
morning how he was walking and shooting. We saw how a bullet hit
the window. At another street mortars and machine gunners were also
firing. We were taken out by Russian volunteers. They told us to do what
they said and to be very attentive because there was a Ukrainian sniper
working there. We heard his shootings and ran between shootings.

Why were the Ukrainians shooting? Because they were fighting.
As my neighbor told me, she came up to one fighter at the market in
anew Micro-District and said: ‘Guys, are you defending us?’ And they
answered to her, that they came not to protect us, but to kill us”.

Testimony 3

Svetlana Viadimirovna Surma (54 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol, Korolenko Lane

“There was an Azov sniper settled in the house near us in Korolenko
Lane, Gugel Street. The Azovstal plant was located near us. That sniper



was shooting at small children. When families left houses, he killed
first children of 3—5 years old, then killed their parents. You walk and
see how people fall in front of you. We ran to my husband who was
in a different district, and watched all this. There were no Russian or
Donetsk soldiers, only Ukrainian divisions and Azov. When they were
climbing down from the attic, I saw they had a sniper’s rifle, camouflage
and a blue armband. I saw an optic sight. They looked at us with a wicked
smile. They thought we were rabid dogs. We are not the people for them,
but a shield. They do not need us. We are just a target for them.

Our lives changed within one month. They took away everything
which was in this life for our children and grandchildren. I was saved
by Chechens. They took me out and later Donetsk fighters helped to
get us to Novoyazovsk and then here to Donetsk. Now the doctors in
the hospital help me to survive”.

Testimony 4

Anatoly Ivanovich Kryachok (62 years old). Place of residence at the time of
the survey — Artyomovsk, 2" Lomonosov Lane

“I was on the roof because the slate of the roof was all broken.
I started repairing it. It was still quite early, people probably were
still drinking coffee and shelling was not very fierce. When I started
throwing down the slates it became quite noisy. I heard a bang nearby,
but did not pay attention, because the sound was familiar. At first I did



Testimony 5

not understand, but later I touched
my leg and saw blood. Then I heard
another bang and saw a bullet. This was
when I realised that they were shooting
at me, so I jumped down and half-lying
crawled down to the attic. The AFU
(Armed Forces of Ukraine) occupied
a two-storied building and a house
near it. They allocated machine guns,
a mortar crew and a self-propelled
artillery mount there. It was 13 March
2023, I even laughed then that it was an
unlucky number”.

Vladimir Vasilyevich Konovko. Place of residence at the time of the
survey — Mariupol, Village Kamensk, Pervomayskaya Street

“We are now in Mariupol, Village Kamensk, Pervomayskaya
Street, house 21 and 23. Azov people behaved aggressively, they
pushed people out of their houses which they used for their firing
positions. One of the neighbours from the courtyard nearby came
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out and said: “What are you doing? There are peaceful people living
here, women, children and old people’. After that I heard a few shots.
Two shots at the house and the last one at the head. Azov fighters
are distinguished by aggressiveness, equipment and weapons. Before
shooting at the man the fighter asked: ‘Do you live here?’” The man
said, yes, I live here. The fighter killed him and said: ‘Now live here’.
He kicked him with his foot and left. Here the man is buried. His
name is Igor Kozyrev. Azov fighter killed him, it was the beginning of
March, the first part of March. We celebrated International Women’s
Day in the basement”.

Testimony 6

Vladimir Leonidovich Polyakov (72 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Artyomovsk

“On 7 March 2023 the guys from the
PMC Russian fighters evacuated me.
On 9 March they came again and took us
under their wing and guarded us so that
those bastards would not kill us. When we
were leaving, my granddaughter’s husband
went first, my great grandson Dan’ka,
8 years old, and my granddaughter with
a baby Svyatoslav who was 7 months old in her arms followed.
A Ukrainian sniper targeted us with a heavy machine gun. From
the village he could see us as if on his palm. His bullet touched my
granddaughter’s hair. So finally, we left only at 10 o’clock at night
when it was dark, when those monsters from the AFU calmed down
a little bit.

They blew up the dam and everything they could blow up. Nothing
live is left after them. They would come into the basements and throw
grenades. Even fascists did not do such things. They knew that there
were people in the basements, but still threw grenades and shot at the
people. They did it because we were, as they called us ‘waiting’, those
who were waiting for when Russians will come. This is how they dealt
with us”.

1



Testimony 7

Michael Alexandrovich Reznik. Place of
residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol

“I decided to visit my father in the
basement and get some food at the
Metallurgov Avenue. On 19 March I drove
into my courtyard and parked my car
near my neighbouring house. As soon as |
turned off the engine, machine gun started.
My car was shot, all windows went out and
something got into my chest. I jumped out
through my neighbour’s car passenger door
into the street, raised my hands and began shouting ‘Do not shoot,
peaceful people here’. At this time the bullet hit me and caught my hip
bone. God bless, my father and neighbours saw me. They pulled me
into the basement and I stayed there for the following six days”.

Testimony 8

Vera (39 years old). Place of residence at the time of the survey —
countryside near Artyomovsk

“The attacks and shootings were terrible. Ukrainian snipers and
mortars were used to shoot at us. Russian fighters carried children
wearing body armoured vests in their arms. They were running to
save those children. When we ran down into the basement we started
hugging and crying, because were very happy that we survived and
because we are the only ones who know those moral and physical
abuse which we suffered from that punitive detachment. Our hands
were shaking. We are local, so everybody had their own horror story.
In every family there were their own heroes, those guys who said: ‘Do
not be afraid, get out. We came to save you, we are Russian’. We began
crying with joy, because before that we were in such a despair as we
thought that we would not stay alive.

Ukrainians told us: “You did not evacuate and we have a command
not to leave here anybody’. When we requested to evacuate children,
they answered that there were neither children nor people there. It was
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very scary. It was also scary when food and water finished and we had
nothing to give to our children. We tried to do what we could. When
it started snowing we raked it at night with our hands and melted it in
a bowl.

There was another basement where an old man and woman climbed
into it as there were terrible shootings. So Ukrainians set them on fire.
The old woman was very slim and she climbed out of the basement in
order to open the window and save the old man. She had burns on her
throat. Ukrainians were standing and laughing at them.

We did not speak to the Ukrainian Armed Forces because we were
frightened. They were so rude. We tried to avoid them. We were driven
into a basement and we did not see them. We were not allowed to light
candles in the basements. If they came and saw lights, there would be
more shooting from them”.

Testimony 9

Andrey Yurievich Kodak (36 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol

“l was wounded in Mariupol on
21 March 2022 at the Mir Prospect
near the hospital Ne 3. We went to get
a boy who had his right arm broken
and the right side of his face burned.
His father covered the boy, but all the
family died: the boy’s mother, uncle
and grandmother. The boy’s father survived. He put the boy in the
car and sent him to the hospital. We were looking for all of them and
found the father first. He was shell-shocked and his back was pierced
by shrapnel. He was delivered to the hospital Ne 17. His acquaintance
from a different city called us and told where he was. In the morning
we went to get him and found him there in the hospital.

On a different day we again walked on the Mira Avenue. I found
a stroller and we put the boy in it. As soon as we came out on the road
and were opposite the shop ‘Lan’’, firing began from the machine gun
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on the Ukrainian side. They hit me immediately, but did not hit the
boy as he was in a stroller. They also hit the sister, but she managed to
hide. The boy’s father tried to cover the boy, but did not manage. The
boy was shot at the back of his head and killed. He remained there on
the street. Alyona and myself were lying on the road for about an hour
and a half or two hours. She was lying on the flower bed and I lay on
the road. We were saved by the unit ‘Pyatyorochka’ from the DPR”.
(Donetsk People’s Republic).

Testimony 10

Alexander. Place of residence at the time of the
survey — Artyomovsk

“There were two persons who wanted
to evacuate to the Ukrainian side. A sniper
shot at them and killed them. It was an
elderly couple, they were lying there.
It was in the beginning of March 2023.
They wanted to leave Kalinovka and go
to another region. I did not want to go to
Ukraine.

When you go out to the courtyard for
a smoke, you hear how bullets whistle. We
were fed up with that sniper. I can say for sure that they shot at me from
the plant territory. They did not hit me because there was a big tree
there and I hid behind it.

It was scary to go to get some water. We began to notice that when
a drone located a person, fighters immediately started shooting. Lately
we stopped heating the stove, because they saw smoke and determined
that there were people there, so they started shooting. During voting
our city voted 100% for the DPR (Donetsk People’s Republic).
Obviously they would not like us, would they? Nobody liked us, even
Timoshenko did not hesitate to say on TV that Donbass should be
wrapped with barbed wire.

Later I saw myself how the big foreign armoured cars drove up,
deployed their towers and fired at the houses”.

14



Testimony 11

Svetlana Viadimirovna Reva (50 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Artyomovsk, Morskaya Street

“The AFU set fire to the houses. There
was no shelling, but houses were burning.
A neighbour in the end of the street said
that Russians were not there yet, but
shelling of the town from the Ukrainian
side. The AFU shot in order to ruin houses,
to ruin as much as they could and smoke
out the people.

Some people lived in the 53" college building in the basement.
They made that basement before the war times, and lived there with
their children. The military forces came, looked at this and said that
they were going to take their children away if they did not leave that
basement within three days. That is how they took children and drove
them to Ukraine. They say that from Chasov Yar all children were
taken.

A Ukrainian sniper shot at us. In our building a sniper stayed on
the ninth floor. When people went shopping, he shot at their backs.
He shot even at night, because you could see from the thermal
imager.

When our apartment block was on fire, I moved and started opening
the door and heard the Ukrainian sniper shooting at the place where
I was standing before. They did not care. They knew very well that
there were not fighters there, only civilians and two children of seven
months and nine years old. It was written on the gate of the building
‘Civilians live here’.

A drone was flying and hung over the courtyard and you could
see that a woman in her dressing gown was walking across the yard.
I walked a bit further and watched. The shelling started, there were no
Russians even close at that time. It was the beginning of February and
Ukrainian soldiers shot at us”.
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Testimony 12

Igor Viadimirovich Sholokhov (58 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Artyomovsk

“Ukrainian  fighters  called us
separatists. They only needed our land.
Donetsk Region is very rich with natural
resources. Everything worked for us
under the USSR and Yanukovich. At first
a beekeeper came to power, a chocolate
baron after him, and all this madness
began. Our village is wealthy and there
is a river near us. Before the war people
were engaged in seedlings and earned money, others dug wells for
irrigation. We went to those wells to get water for bathing in a trough,
because there was neither light, nor water in basements. The majority
of people lived in basements. People brought to those wells buckets
and watering cans. They saw people outside in the streets and started
shooting over our heads. For them nothing sacred. They just shot at the
peaceful people. All the village and all city are destroyed. They had a
command to destroy all the peaceful population, because they needed
just land.

Shelling and shooting was non-stop, when Russians were not even
near for the whole year.

You come up to a soldier and he immediately prepares to shoot.
Mainly they were from Transcarpathian Sich battalion, others were
Georgians and mercenaries, drug addicts and thugs. They were real
fascists. Their snipers shot peaceful citizens. My friend’s wife came out
to the courtyard to feed her household and was killed. They shot from
houses. I personally was shot at by snipers several times during February
2023. I lived near the school and kindergarten, snipers were located on
top the school and kindergarten and were shooting regularly. There is a
little shop 1.5 km from my house. You cannot reach it without sniper’s
shooting. I drove people who were not able to walk to my car. I did
not think about my own life then, I just needed to take pensioners out.
Ukrainian fighters saw that it was a civil white car”.
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Testimony 13

Rauza (66 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Artyomovsk

“People who spoke with Ukrainian
military said, that they were full of hatred.
For example, in the middle of summer the
AFU were digging trenches near a house.
A house owner came out and started asking
questions. They answered that there would
be a defence line there and that he needed
to evacuate. They started arguing and the
soldier hit the man on his head with the butt of the gun and hit
a woman in the stomach.

I did not leave the basement very often, but men did. One of them
who lived on the third floor came out and a sniper started shooting
at him. He turned around and heard how the bullet hit the stove on
which we cooked food, because there was no gas. Our entrance door
was also hit by automatic fire. They shot at us because they wanted us
to evacuate and they did not have live witnesses.

I want to go to Russia. I am an active grandmother, worked all my
life, worked before the war and will work further. I will live until I am
hundred years old, but I will live in my motherland”.

Testimony 14

Svetlana Viadimirovna Savchenko (58 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol, Kuprin Street

“Before my eyes an old woman was
collecting wood chips for the fire. It was
at the arch on Stroiteley Street. I saw a
Ukrainian Armed Forces sniper. We knew
where they were located. We wanted so
much to let people know that they should
! be more careful. We were in the territory
controlled by Ukrame and across the prospect were people from the
DPR. So as that old woman picked up wood chips under the arch

17



(there were many fallen trees there) the Ukrainian sniper shot and
killed her.

I also saw a man near a bus stop. He was asking an Azov fighter to
allow him to cross the street to get to his ill wife who could not walk.
It happened that they were separated. He asked: ‘Chloptsy (Guys),
you are human beings, please let me through. Don’t you understand
that my wife is dying there?’ For these words they shot him in his
stomach and killed him. He was an elderly man, older than me”.

Testimony 15

Natalya (60 years old). Place of residence at the
time of the survey — Artyomovsk

“It was on the morning of 1 March 2023,
that they started shooting from 6.30 am.
A friend of mine came out to feed his domestic
animals and a sniper was already waiting.
He saw the movement in the room from the
window. When my friend stopped at 9.00 am
there was a shot. I was in another room and
asked what happened, but nobody answered.
I saw that he could not speak. He had a hole in his throat. I rushed
home and sat in the basement and was afraid to come out.

The sniper understood everything because he saw the man who
came out in the morning to feed cats and dogs. Later I realised where
they were shooting from. There were warehouses and a factory there,
and Ukrainians shot from there. They want to wipe us from the face
of the earth because we stayed and were witnesses. When we were
evacuated, I did not see any houses because I did not come out from
the basement. When we were led away I was shocked how all the
buildings were destroyed and ruined”.

Testimony 16

Ivan Valeryevich Bidenko. Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol, Stroiteley Street

“On the Nakhimov Street, 158 and 160 there was a big mortality.
Snipers stayed on the upper floors and when they were leaving,
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they set fire. People climbed out of the
basement to put out the fire. A young
girl and young guy came out first and
they were shot dead. I work nearby,
so | went to learn what happened. Our
neighbours also came and told us. We
heard their cries from here. Ukrainians
started shooting when people began
putting out the fire.

What happened to the teacher?
He used to work in a technical school
where he was my curator. His name was
Andrey Anatolyevich Medvedev. Later he worked at school and lived
at Nakhimov Street. He was walking with his son to get water, and
bullets caught him. Both he and his son were killed. He did not have
any weapons, was just walking to get water. Only Ukrainians were at
the place from which they were shooting. There were no Russians
there at all”.

Testimony 17

Anatoly Egorovich Kondrahov (81 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol

“In April 2022 two of us were
walking from the office when suddenly
a sniper started shooting. At first he
hit Viktor Yuryevich Dekalyuk (the
Chairman of the Society of Prisoners
of Nazi Concentration Camps). Then
he hit me in the hand and shot off my
finger. Later I went to Viktor’s home,
he had a huge house. I opened the door
and saw Ukrainians, they were drinking. I said that I wanted to see
Viktor Yuryevich and they answered: ‘He was here and now he does
not exist’”.
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Testimony 18

when they drove back,

machine guns and tanks.

Denis Viktorovich Povar (29 years old). Place of
residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol

“I went to deliver groceries. We were
at home in a district of Ilyich, and an
acquaintance of mine decided to take
groceries to his wife who lived in a district
of the Drama theatre. So they drove there
and were stopped on the bridge in Kirovsky
District. Fighters from the AFU said: ‘“Turn
the car around and go back’. At the moment
Ukrainians started shooting at them from
They hit the driver at his back and he crashed

as a result into a tree. Vadik, a passenger, came with a half-torn arm.
His arm was just hanging on the skin, the bone was broken, everything
was broken, and the second man, also Vadim died on the spot”.

Testimony 19

Testimony 20

Nikolay Vasilyevich Moroz (79 years old). Place
of residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol,
Levitsky Street

“They kicked people out of the entrance
to the apartment block to the basement.
There was a sniper on the seventh floor.
A sniper shot a child dead. It was near a
kindergarten and there was a school nearby.
He killed the boy just for nothing. The boy
was 15 years old”.

Lyudmilla Alexandrovna Sysoyeva. Place of residence at the time of the
survey — Mariupol, Stroiteley Street

“In April 2022 my husband and I were walking home from the
technical school. We were on our own. A sniper started shooting at us.
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Specifically, a Ukrainian sniper fired at
us. I immediately felt burning pain and
my hand went numb. My fingers still do
not work; half a palm works and another
half does not. I tell my husband: ‘Edik,
I must have been shot’. He said: “What?’
and bent down. If he hadn’t bent down,
he would have been killed, because at the
moment when he bent down, the sniper
shot at him, so it turned out that his back
was slashed. Passed on a tangent and
completely slashed his back. Well, we lay
down, fell down. The sniper thought that he had killed us. We were
lying on the ground and my husband said: ‘Lyuda, what shall we do?
There are children there’. I said: ‘Let’s run’. We laid a bit longer, then
got up and ran. When he saw that we were running he started shooting
at us again. We hid behind containers. A bit later we ran in dashes and
got to the houses where people were cooking food.

When we approached them, they looked at us and said: ‘God, you
are alive. We thought that you would not survive’. They also said,
‘Is there a man there?’ And the man, it turns out, was running after us,
but when he fell, he did not get up, he was probably killed.

People who were cooking said: ‘Sit down, have a rest, so I sat down.
Blood was flowing from my sleeve and from my arm. My husband’s
back was covered in blood. They immediately applied a tourniquet to
stop the bleeding. The neighbours sewed up the back of my husband
with a fishing line to put together the flesh from his back.

They said that where a furniture shop Zhiguli was, Ukrainian
soldiers kicked the people out into a basement. They were in the house,
and the child cried in the basement. One of them says: ‘What is it all
about? How tired I am of you!” He took a grenade and threw it into the
basement ... there were so many deaths. The whole Mariupol buzzed
about this.

Once my husband and I went to the mosque where the spring was
for water. Two men went ahead of us and I stopped for a second. What a
blessing that I stopped. Another 10 steps and that’s would have been it.
The Ukrainians specifically began to shell the road and people walking
with water. They began to shoot people off with heavy shells. Everyone
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lay down. Then I heard ‘Sasha, Sasha, Sasha’, a cry like this. They
were walking ahead of me. I saw this man’s stomach was completely
slashed, he was lying dead. The Ukrainian military themselves used to
take water from there, they knew that people were going to fetch water.

Hatred, hatred for us”.

Testimony 21

Svetlana Anatolyevna Slapinova. Place
of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol

“A man came into a destroyed house
and wanted to find some toys there,
his grandson was recently born. He
was coming out with a toy and a sniper
shot at him. The man heard the sound
of a bullet. He stayed alive because the
sniper missed him. Ukrainian military
believed that we were separatists and
therefore the attitude was appropriate”.

Svetlana Ivanovna Bogatyryova

(62 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol, Boulevard named
after 50 Years of October

“From 2 March until 6 April 2022
I was in the hospital of Mariupol after
I was wounded. The polyclinic Ne 4
was located near the hospital. Relatives
came to visit patients in the hospital,
but not all of them were lucky enough
to get away from the hospital because of
snipers who worked around. They were

shooting. Ukrainian troops were stationed in this area. Small or big,
they didn’t care. Even the interest was more in the children. At first
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they hit the child, then they hit the mother, and then the dad. The
second family was more fortunate, they managed to escape. To get to
the polyclinic, one had to go through the tram lines, but some could
not go this distance because the snipers were working”.

Testimony 23

Milana Alexandrovna Dobshanskaya
(47 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol, Varganov Street

“It was the beginning of March
when we were left without water, but
until 6 March there was still gas. We
used it to heat food. When the gas was
turned off on 6 March 1 understood
everything. We went to the basement
and began equipping it. It was
impossible to go out into the street,
because the snipers of the AFU were
working. They shot just like that at
anyone who came out even just to take out rubbish. It was a game for
them. They broke into apartments and stayed in living quarters and
houses. They drove the residents to the basement and from the houses
they shot and killed civilians.

People who wanted to come out of the basement to find at least
some medicine for the wounded, put on white armbands. But it was
bad, because when the Ukrainian military saw them, they just shot to
kill. From what I’ve heard from the local people, Azov fighters changed
their uniforms for civilian clothes in order to disguise themselves and
were hiding in basements and tortured people. They did not allow
people to drink or share food. When the DPR fighters came into the
basements where we hid, we were so shocked. They were surprised, that
there were people here. They said that they were told that there were
no people there. They shared food with us. We were so amazed at such
an attitude from Russians. They asked us whether we had medicines.
It was the first human relation towards us. We had to get food not just
for ourselves but for our children.
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The shelling was carried out from the side of Azovstal. The shell hit
the house, and it caught fire. They had to pop out, because they could
suffocate from the smoke, and at this moment three residents of the
house were killed. My son-in-law was wounded, he was still able to go
down to the basement and died in 15 minutes. His name was Albert
Mikhailovich Turko. For 9 days my son-in-law was in the basement,
and they could not bury him. Nobody could get out of the basement,
and my son-in-law stayed there in a sitting position.

After 9 days, the neighbours buried him in the yard, and six more
people together with him. My son-in-law had a back injury.

On 16 March there was shelling again. My neighbour Natalya
Petrovna Dorosh and I climbed out of the basement to take some
stuff and climbed back down early in the morning. In the morning
we suddenly heard shots, then shelling. We started going down to the
basement and my neighbour was last, so she was injured. When she
came out of the basement, I saw that she had her boot full of blood
and she was already losing consciousness. She had not one, but three
wounds: the right buttock, the crotch and the leg. Her muscles were
torn. The Ukrainian Armed Forces were shelling us. They were on
tanks, and if there was any movement, they shot to kill”.

Testimony 24

Anna Leonidovna Nizhnekovskaya. Place of residence at the time of the
survey — Mariupol
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“My friend had a well in her courtyard and she allowed everybody
to come and get water. When Ukrainians learned about it, they brought
their sniper. He shot the people, shot right in the legs. The snipers were
located on the hill near Primorsky, there is a private sector there. They
stayed there from the 24 of February to 15 of March.

My father came and took us to his shop Primorye, 1, Ushakova
Street at crossing with some streets: Fyodorov Lane, Krasnoflotskaya
Street, Latyshev and Ushakov Streets. The shop is located on a ‘patch’
(pyatachok).

A lorry drove up with bread, baby food and diapers. We approached
the lorry, and the driver said: ‘Moms, bread is on top of other goods,
please wait, we will distribute the bread and will give you everything
quickly after that’. There was a young woman with a girl 8§ months
old. There were a lot of mothers. I left my child with a grandfather
in the basement. My husband and I stood and waited for baby food.
We didn’t need bread.

Ukrainian soldiers with stripes and blue bands on their uniform
approached the crowd and began to rudely push us away, using swear
words. They said that they would shoot us if we would not go away.
They said to the driver that he should give them a crate of bread. The
driver answered that the bread was for the local people. The soldiers
continued swearing, but the people pushed them away and then moved
away at about 100—150 meters. That young woman and smoked and
heard how one of the soldiers said on the walkie-talkie that a blue lorry
was standing on the patch and it should be put under fire.

I ran to the car to warn people, but then the most powerful attack
began. They started firing at us. That guy immediately closed the car
and drove away. We were shelled for about half an hour. There was a
container not far so a woman who had an 8§-month-old baby and I ran
there. I saw a little 10-year-old girl near the tires. I grabbed her and we,
like two hens, covered the children.

It turned out that we both suffered. She had her back all in small
fragments, | also had small fragments from neck to heels. My husband
took out those fragments with tweezers for a whole week, because
there was no medical assistance. On 19 April when the Donetsk
People Republic military came, they told us to go to the hospital.
I had a surgery and ended up having three operations, and also treated
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pinching of a sciatic nerve. I walked with a cane for two months. Later
they told me that when everything would be back to normal, I will need
to be taken to Donetsk. I am sure it was the Ukrainian army, because
the guys from the DPR have not come to us yet. Only Ukrainian army
was shelling the people. They could shoot people just because he didn’t
like them. There was such a situation with somebody I know. Their
father was walking and Ukrainian military did not like him for some
reason, so they shot him in the back of the head. He lay there for five
days. Unfortunately, I don’t know his name”.

Testimony 25

Lyudmilla Nikolayevna Bondarenko. Place of
residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol

“From 1 March until 2 April 2022
I lived in my son’s apartment in Mariupol.
After being wounded, I am in a hospital in
Donetsk. My son called me and said that
there were a lot of snipers and that he hardly
sees his father, because they are afraid. He
says that his father wanted to come, but he
met a wounded guy on the way. He bandaged his hand and returned
home because he was afraid to go.

My in-law also said that he wanted to go somewhere to get water, but
they shot at him. He returned and said that he would not go anywhere
else and would stay at home for now ... Zelensky is a clown. I think he
is not a president. When he ran for elections, he shouted that he would
end the war in 2 days, stood on his knees in front of people, promised
that everything would be settled peacefully, but in fact nothing was
settled, and it got even worse”.

Testimony 26

Igor Dmitriyevich Byvalin. Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol

“On 22 March I came out of the basement to boil some water.
It was on 121 Metallurgists Prospect. I went to the courtyard of my
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house to collect firewood, and at that moment a shot flew under my
knee and then literally in the buttock. It was a sniper.

They fired from the central market. The Ukrainian army fired,
the ‘Z’ positions were still far from us. There were no more shots.
The neighbours who were near the basement, dragged me into the
basement. We were there for three days. On the fourth day we left the
basement and managed to find transport, I was taken to the hospital 3
in Mariupol. There I had an operation, but conditions in the hospital
were bad. On the 30 March Z forces came to our city, namely to our
yard. It was the Russian troops who suggested that I evacuate. I was
given first aid, and I was taken to Donetsk”.

Testimony 27

Igor Evgenyevich Zheltouhov.
Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol,
Meotida Boulevard

“The guys were taking
water, and bullets whistled
overhead. Apparently, they
tried to take people away,
) because they had a fortifi-
cation nearby, so that extra eyes did not see it. There were no Russian
troops around yet. Azovstal plant was practically behind us, there were
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garages and a park, and then Azovstal. 1 was told that on the reservoir
people were fired upon with small arms, as a result, two women were
killed.

On 16 March 2022 a group of guys and I went by car to collect
drinking water from a pond which was located on the territory of a
bakery. When we had already collected the cans, it turned out probably
half a ton. We were ready to take them out, but I heard the first
explosion, and then the second. I tried to bend down and hide behind
a hillock, when I heard the second explosion. The mines were small,
not GRAD, but something small. I began to slide over the hillock into
a gap. It was about half a meter deep and 70 cm wide. One of the mines
landed there. There was noise in my head and I don’t remember what
was next. I tried to lean on my arm and stand up, but my arm was
almost completely broken. In the sleeve it hung only on ligaments.

There were nine of us, seven were injured. We just started rolling
in one direction, there was a good fortification there, but one of the
mines miraculously went into this gap between the fence and the fire
reservoir. I was on one side, apparently, the main fragments went
there, so the splinter stuck there and on a shoulder.

If you look at how the mines were laid, the order of their arrival,
then it was from the district where the Amstor store (formerly Selpo)
is up to the city executive committee building. It was flying from that
sector, because the first, second, third, and all of them flew towards us.
Then the fourth, and then I no longer heard. These were Ukrainian
troops. Because if the Russians had fired, they would have fired from
a greater distance, there would have been more scattered mines and
heavier weapons”.

Testimony 28

Igor Valeryevich Parhomenko (42 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Volnovakha

“Here I turn around and there is that crowd, many people, about
fifteen. I look closer, there are about twenty meters between us. I look
at them, they look like ragamuffins. On one of them there is a hat of the
Ministry of Internal Affairs, a black sphere, on the other person there is
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anormal hat, the third one has just some kind
of hat. I came out and he waves with his hand
to me, come here.

T understand that these are not my people,
they are strangers. And I immediately wave
my hand at him no (I won’t come up), and
I automatically dodge, and he immediately
shoots at me, and the bullet flew past my
head.

Igor Kurakin, they found him... God rest
his soul. He ran to the basement, told people that ukrops (nickname
for Ukrainian military) were threatening to kill him. In two days he
was found at the staircase, stabbed to death with a knife, his mouth full
of cartridges. The militias, who were there, said that it was probably
mined (the corpse of Igor Kurakin), that is, they might have put a
grenade in his mouth, then covered with cartridges. His corpse was
not taken away for several days. Yes, they beat him, cut him. He was
beaten up, then they stabbed him to death. And they filled his mouth
full with cartridges”.

Testimony 29

Igor Valentinovich Kulpinsky (48 years old). Place
of residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol,
Morskoy Boulevard

“A soldier came to us and said that we
should leave school as soon as we could. Later
they threatened us that snipers would shoot
us if we got out to the street. Also they told
us not to smoke. Ukrainian Armed Forces
threatened all civilian population.

At about 9.30 am. I came out from the school Ne 56 to 16 Morskoy
Boulevard and when I was entering the building I hit a booby trap.
It was just a bang, and I was concussed. I started moving away and
then I heard an explosion. I went out from the entrance of the building,
looked at myself and saw blood gushing from my legs. There were
combined troops there: The AFU, Azov and one mercenary”.
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Testimony 30

Denis Viadimirovich Fomenko (44 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol, Sanatornaya Street

“Ukrainian snipers are located in the flats above civilians, and if
they see some movement when people go to get water or approach the
buffer zone, they shoot to kill. Corpses were lying around, nobody took
them away.

They shot at the civilians. At 41, Krasnomayakskaya Street there
were seventy people in a bomb shelter. People needed to get some
water, but they could not approach the buffer zone. Peaceful civilians
had been killed. If you left your zone, they shot people dead. They knew
that those people were peaceful. People were not allowed to get out of
the bomb shelter. They did not give them a chance to come out of the
bomb shelter so that the population does not run away and could be used
as a human shield. A sniper worked to kill on 41 Krasnomayakskaya
Street, at the intersection of Sanatornaya Street. Where Sanatornaya
Street meets Nakhimov Street, there was an unfinished building, and
a sniper was working on the cranes from above. He fired at any civilian
person who turned up”.

Testimony 31

Elena Dmitrievna Susla (67 years old). Place of residence at the time of the
survey — Mariupol, Gorlovskaya Street

“Behind our house there is a construction technical school in the
Levoberezhny District. People said that a sniper was located there.
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We were all in the basement. Sometimes we
went upstairs to the 5" and 6" floor. One man
got up, took some food. Suddenly something
went off, it was not clear what it was. It turned
out that the sniper hit him. He had a hood
on his head, so there was hole in it. The man
crawled in his flat to get some food and other
things.

In Azov there are many men after a
: criminal record. They are terrible inadequate
people. We all speak Russian, that’s how we were taught. A woman
and I were sitting on the ground floor near the lift, four of the Azov
fighters burst in, the woman said: ‘Good afternoon, lads!” They told
her: ‘Close your mouth’. They are inadequate, compare the chronicles
of Hitler and them. It seems to me that they are the same. This Azov is
a fascist organization. In our house in the 4" entrance on the 9" floor
the locks in the apartments were broken. They set machine guns and
started shooting. They broke into all the apartments, went down to the
eighth floor, could not break in, went down to the seventh floor. There
was a woman there who was going to go to her children, prepared
15 cans of food, so they ate four cans and went down further, again
broke some more locks. Scary. After that they set fire to our house.
I left wearing whatever I had on me, everything old, because I stayed in
the basement. Now I have nothing, a beggar at 67 years old”.

Testimony 32

Viktor Vasilyevich Potapov (68 years old). Place
of residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol,
Morskoy Boulevard

“On 16 March 2022 my wife was near
a window in the bedroom on the 9™ floor.
We were at my sister’s house at Morskoy
Boulevard. My wife was going away from the
window when the bullet hit her arm, got into
the flesh of the arm, flew out and hit the wall.
Then on the following day we found a small
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stub. It was a Ukrainian sniper, you could see it by the incoming
direction”.

Testimony 33

Anatoly Borisovich (74 years old). Place of
residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol,
Latyshev Street

“I have no doubt that Azov fighters were
killing people. They didn’t kill me because,
apparently, they wanted to play around ...
were just tired of shooting, just decided to
play.

I was walking between the houses and
suddenly there was a shot on the right, then
in five seconds a shot on the left. I understood that the next shot will
be in my head, and quickly sat down. Then in the basement I spent an
hour coming to my senses, when I realised that they could kill me.

My grandson and I had to leave the basement to get water not far
from the dacha (summer house). We came out of the basement and
turned between the houses to get into a street. There we saw the first
civilian man lying dead. We went around him, turned into another
little street in order to walk further and we saw another civilian man
lying on the road, then another... We reached the new post office
and saw inside the building a heap of corpses. Azov snipers killed
them.

When they kicked us out of our flats, they took all the entrances in
all apartment blocks. I came out later, when everything became quiet,
considered the trajectory and realised from which entrance the sniper,
who shot at me, was ‘playing’ with me.

There was a woman, who could barely walk. We were kicked out
from the third entrance of the building, and that woman had a walker.
We said: “We’ll take her’. Their senior said: ‘No need, you all go,
nothing will happen’. We all left. When those events here finished,
people, who was left, began to come back and started looking at their
flats. That woman was lying dead in her flat. A nurse lived opposite that
woman, she kept her documents at that woman’s. She came upstairs
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in her flat and then came downstairs and said: ‘She is dead, they killed
her’. The nurse covered her and I said: ‘Do not touch her, God forbid
they put a bobby trap under her. Do not take your documents until she
is taken away’. The nurse probably saw that the woman was shot at the
back of her head”.

Testimony 34

Vladimir Ivanovich Marushin (53 years old). Place
of residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol,
2" Kalchik Street

“My relative Gala Pokoreyeva had a
son who lived at the Ilyich area. He and his
wife were going to Gala to learn whether his
mother was still alive. They rode their bicy-
cles because everything was already broken
by that time. When they were on the road,
a sniper shot them both in their right legs.

They were shot below knees in their calves: his wife and him. His
name was Sasha. It’s good that mom was a medical worker. She is
still treating them and looks after them. Bullets went right through.
Thank God, the bones were not touched. The wounds were not very
dangerous, but still... It was like a game for snipers. They decided
‘Let’s fire’. One was on the white bicycle, and another one was on light
blue one.

Zelensky is disgusting, very disgusting. He ruined the country,
started all this..., I do not understand. All this is very bad. Zelensky is
a scoundrel. He destroyed the city of Mariupol. Nothing good awaits
Ukraine, because he listens to what Biden tells him and hears nothing
else”.

Testimony 35

Alexandr Putilov (55 years old). Place of residence at the time of the
survey — Mariupol, Pobeda Prospect (Victory Prospect)

“Azov snipers killed a girl from the basement. We set grills in the
yard, fried and steamed whatever people had. A girl was just riding the

33



bike and fell over. And that was it, she had
a hole in her head. The Azov sniper just sat
and practiced in the flat, just wondered
whether he would hit or not. She was
about fourteen or thirteen. There were no
Russians here at that time. It was exactly
Azov, nobody else. When we went to get
water, so many times they were shooting at
the crowd”.

Sergey Alexandrovich Gaydin (54 years old).
Place of living during interview — Mariupol,
Ilyich Prospect

“People started trying to extinguish
fire, save their property and their
apartments. Ukrainian soldiers started
shooting from their machine guns at
the walls and the doors. People were
frightened of course. Who would go
against a machine gun?! Nobody would, so people scattered, and
the house burned down.

One day three Azov fighters ran into our apartment block, climbed
up to the second floor. One of them was old, another one was young
and the third one was of middle age. They put up a sniper’s rifle covered
with a camouflage net. The barrel of the rifle was of neither Russian nor
Ukrainian production. They said to me: ‘Are there separatists here?’
I said: “There are no separatists, there are peaceful citizens living here,
and I have recently been here’. He tells me: ‘Give me the keys to the
attic’. I told him: ‘I do not have the keys as I am new here’. He shouted:
‘Keys!” and started threatening me with physical violence.

Another Ukrainian fighter took out a tire iron, and the old one
climbed up, broke the lock and with a chain came back. Then the
young Ukrainian guy turned to me and asked whether there were any
separatists there. I said that I did not know and he told me that if there
were separatists there, he would kill me, my wife and my child. He said
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that he did not care who to kill. Then he climbed up to the attic, but
there was nobody there. Then asked me why I did not serve in the
Ukrainian army and did not defend my Motherland. I saw that he was
very aggressive, maybe under drugs. I answered that I was a peaceful
man and worked at the plant, that I never touched any weapon and
was afraid of weapons. He continued asking me questions in a very
rude way, swore all the time. He got the Makarov pistol and started
juggling with it and shouting. The second Ukrainian fighter, the old
one started singing Ukrainian songs. I realised that the young one was
taking decisions whether to kill or leave me alive and I started praying
to God. Soon after that the old guy stopped singing and the young one
stopped juggling, put the gun in its holster and said: ‘Everyone stays in
their apartments and do not leave here’. And they all went into the next
entrance of our apartment block and left their backpacks there.

We learned this from the neighbours on the second day and in
the morning, we were afraid to go out. The neighbours said that they
climbed around all night there, left their backpacks and said that
they would come back. But they didn’t return again. After cleansing,
when the Donetsk Republic police had come here, they checked our
passports politely and went to check those backpacks. There were
civilian clothes in the backpacks. Those Ukrainian fighters prepared to
change their clothes and run away”.

Testimony 37

Lyubov Vladimirovna Sukhina. Place
of residence at the time of the survey —
Rubezhnoye

“The AFU or the National Guard
fired from machine guns at houses,
over fences and windows. When I ran
from the lake and carried water,
because we lived without water and
light, then I was shot and hit. 1 have
head and hand injuries. Then back in
our area there were no other troops
except Ukrainian.
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The Armed Forces of Ukraine (AFU) said that they did not need
people and they were going to destroy everything. Two Ukrainian
fighters came to the bomb shelter and told us to get out wherever we
wanted because they were going to destroy everything there. They
ruined all the houses at the railway station. I saw them there, I saw
an armoured personnel carrier. Tanks drove towards Novodruzhesk,
there was a railway station there. I saw them myself personally. The
armoured personnel carriers drove along the street. They just shot
at houses, the houses were burning. I am not afraid to say this as the
houses were burning every day, also the railway station and private
houses. Very few houses survived, all others have been destroyed.

I don’t think Ukraine exists. There are Nazis there, not Ukrainians.
They put this clown at whom all country and the whole world laughs.
I can say it openly. Only this Donbass exists where we lived”.

Testimony 38

Alexander Vladimirovich Beletsky. Place of
residence at the time of the survey — Rubezhnoye

“My godfather was hiding from shelling in
a bomb shelter under the 73 shop. When he
was leaving the place, the Ukrainian armed
fighters shot him dead. They shot him for
nothing”.

Testimony 39

Tatyana. Place of residence at the time of the survey — Artyomovsk

Question: “How Ukrainian servicemen behaved with regards to
local civilians?”

Tatyana: “I know a case, when our neighbour was literally shot at.
We were evacuated on 5 February, and two weeks before that a civilian
dressed in civilian clothes walked not far from the house where he was
hiding. Snipers started shooting at him just like chasing a rabbit. He
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ran here and there, sometimes bent, then hid behind the wall. They
shot at the wall until they hit him and wounded him in his leg. He
crawled towards the basement and they still fired at him. Well, they just
enjoyed looking how he ran away from them”.

Testimony 40

Viktor Vasilyevich Kochan (70 years old). Place
of residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol

“I'am a sea boatswain, born in Mariupol.
My parents and grandparents are Mariupol
citizens as well. We are all indigenous

Mariupol residents. I didn’t even think and
didn’t believe that I will have such a life. My
grandfather is a war hero. He was fighting

in intelligence troops at the forefront and

fought all the way from Stalingrad to Berlin,
fought Banderites in the Carpathians.

When I watch how on 9 May the St. George ribbons are torn off
grandfathers and they are called ‘colorady’, I cannot get it. It all
started in 2014, then when they burned Odessa and beat the police in
Mariupol.

Azov people are the devils, I experienced it myself, when they shot
straight from the apartments. They fired from mortars, bang from tanks
or some other weapon. The fire had begun from the second floor. We
were in that building and jumped out of it when a lot of smoke turned
up. I stepped out from under canopy and watched how it all burns.
People jump up and started breaking everything to help stop fire. The
guy from the Azov about 45 years old with a horrible mug asked: ‘Do
you like it?’. I said: ‘Are you an idiot?’. He took a machine gun and
shot at me. I started running.

They took positions above us when they started firing at this house
at 44, Morskoy Boulevard, it is the exact address. I don’t understand
where they have so much energy. It must be dope, they must be drugged
with something, otherwise they could not survive”.
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Testimony 41

Rodion Grigorievich Rovensky (46 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol, Ilyichevsky District, Mirny,
Okhotnichy Lane

“24 March 2022 about 8.30 am I went
to get water and took a 5-liter tank with
me. It was in Kirovsky District of Mariupol.
After getting water I was returning across the
bridge. I saw a gray Daewoo drive and some
civilians walking to get water. Ukrainian
military saw the car and started firing at it
from the automatic rifle, first single, and
then short bursts. People began hiding and I also wanted to hide behind
atree, but did not have enough time and received a bullet gunshot. I got
firearm wound in my thigh and remained lying on the lawn. I had a hip
wound in my right leg and also a fracture with displacement. There was
a sub-zero temperature, and as I understand, there was a frostbite on
my left foot. I turned over to my left side and began to crawl out slowly
from this location. I crawled out about 150—200 meters. I did not have
any strength and remained there until the DPR fighters arrived and
provided the first urgent help. A big thank you to the DPR fighters”.

Testimony 42

Diana Tsemeda. Place of residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol
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“We walked home with a friend and a child, crossed road. Azov
people were hiding there along Karpinsky Street. They fired without
warning and hit, glory God, in me, not in a child. They probably shot
from a machine gun, I don’t know, there was an automatic burst. I had
a bullet wound, a fracture of my hip joints”.

Testimony 43

Mariya Vahankova (21 years old). Place of
residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol

“Azov servicemen wanted to shoot my
friends with machine guns when they were
leaving the city by car. We also wanted to
leave, and in a week went on foot, fled on
foot under fire.

Denis is 36 years old, Marina is 28 years
old. They wanted to leave, but Azov battalion
. soldiers shot at them. They were hiding in
houses and shot at the people from there. Our acquaintances wanted
to leave by car, but the Azov started shooting at the car. Miraculously,
they remained intact, alive and well. Now they are in Mariupol”.

Testimony 44

Marina Valentinovna Moiseyeva. Place of
residence at the time of the survey — llovaisk,
Vinogradnaya Street

“This is the same street where the fighting
took place. As I learned later, in 2014 the
battalion ‘Donbass’ set up camp in our house.
When Ilovaisk was released, my mother and
I went there. When we arrived, we saw that
the house was open and the windows were
broken. I went to the school to inquire, came
up to the school Director and asked her. She said: ‘Yes, I know that your
father was here, but later he was shot dead’. I walked down the street
passing by the broken house of a neighbour and my first impression
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was a cadaverous smell. There the bodies have been brought already
and they were lying on a tarpaulin. I brought my father to the morgue,
but they didn’t work then as there were problems with the light. I had a
familiar expert, so quickly organised the funeral within a day, because
there was no point in keeping it.

As people told me, a mine flew into the house and the fire started.
When the shelling stopped, my father ran home. He began saying:
‘What are you doing? We are also your people’. They started beating
him. They beat him for a long time and then left near the school in
a summer lavatory. He lay there for a day and night wheezing. Then
one of them ordered to go and shoot him. They shot him. It was clear
that he was killed in the head, because the head was like a broken
watermelon.

When we arrived, there were tripwires in the house. The dog was
killed and we were afraid that the dog was also mined. Knowing the
Ukrainian fighters, we were afraid to get in there. Tripwires were along
the perimeter and near the house. They dug a dugout in the flower
garden, put sleepers and a blanket from the bedroom on top, and
then sprinkled with earth. Then they pulled out a palm tree which my
mother watered, out in the street and put an armchair. This was how
they rested. Ukraine betrayed us”.

Testimony 45

Alexey Timofeyevich Parkhomenko. Place of
residence at the time of the survey — Rubezhnoye

“I lived in the second entrance of the
apartment block. I have learned from my
neighbour that Dima was dead. His wife
identified the body. This was what happened.
Their flat was left without glass on the
windows, so they had to get some plywood
to cover the windows. The day was short, it
got dark early and they went to get plywood
quite late after Dima’s work, because he still worked and just came
back home from work. They were stopped and asked for documents,
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then everyone was asked. Ukrainian servicemen shot him near the bus
stop. His wife was left a widow”.

Testimony 46

Denis Viadimirovich Gilev (43 years old). Place
of residence at the time of the survey — Mariupol

“A white Ford Transit drove in our yard
at Komsomolsky Boulevard, renamed in
Morskoy, opposite the dentists’ surgery and
passed the houses. I stood near my car, and
another car parked by the entrance to the
house,was preparing to drive out at that time.
They drove past me. I decided that the fact
that people drove around showed that it was possible to evacuate so
I continued to prepare to evacuate. The other car drove to the renamed
Ukrainian Cossacks, and at that moment I heard shooting.

When I raised my head from behind the car, they were standing
diagonally across the intersection. About 70—80 meters from the
crossing. There were dead bodies in the car, two women.

The Ukrainian Armed Forces stayed in that house at that time.
I assume they were shooting. A girl went to visit her friends and was
locked in with them at the entrance to the house. She said that they
were Ukrainian troops. She was locked in and not allowed to leave”.

Testimony 47

Yury Gennadyevich. Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Popasnaya

“A neighbour went out on business, and
had a bullet which is still there in his body.
He is in the hospital. He was shot at from the
machine gun. His house was burned down,
and not only his, many houses were burned.
When Ukrainians retreated, they burned
everything on their way”.
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Testimony 48

Anatoly Vasilyevich Kharchenko
(46 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol, 123, Pobeda Street

“It was 25 March 2022. We went to
pick up medicines from the apartment.
We reached the intersection of the
Pobeda Prospect and the 130" Taganrog
division street. We saw that the upper
floors of the house were ruined and the
whole house burned down, so we turned
around to go back to the bomb shelter.

Suddenly two shots fired behind from the seaside area (note: at that
moment the Ukrainian forces were located there). At first, they shot at
my mother’s back (Kharchenko Nadezhda Leonidovna, 75 years old),
and then, when I tried to rescue her, they shot me in the back. The
bullet passed on a tangent and almost hit my back”.

Testimony 49

Irena Stepanovna Bykova. Place of residence
at the time of the survey — Mariupol

“When we crossed the street, where
the Ukrainian military were, they began
to shoot and deliberately fired at us.
They were shooting from Kalashnikov
machine guns. We fell to the ground and
were lying. When everything seemed
to be quiet, we got up, but the mortars
started firing... Donetsk Republic forces
began to shoot hard in their direction

and they shouted to us to run to their side, so they covered us with
their fire. Is it possible to justify the actions of Ukraine? I would shoot
them all. I would put them against the wall and shoot though I never

held a gun in my hands”.
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Testimony 50

Lidiya Shelest. Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol

“On Sunday 20 March 2022 we wanted
to get home to check what happened to our
apartment. We thought that there might
be something still left in the flat. It was
on Metallurgists Prospect, the centre of
the city, so we quietly and carefully drove
along the absolutely empty city, nothing
was around.

At the distance, just when we were approaching our house, across
the prospect we saw a parked tank. We got scared and decided to go
back. On the prospect we turned 180 degrees, and with the corner of my
eye on one side, I noticed soldiers (on the left). As soon as we turned
around, the automatic burst shot straight at us. There were white cloths
tied on the car and it was clear that it was a peaceful car. And by some
miracle we remained alive after that automatic burst, which broke
through two tires. They shot just at the front passengers, not in the
back seat, but in the front. I have hands and tangential head injuries”.

Testimony 51

Tamara Nikolayevna Kompanets (62 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Artyomovsk, Krasnoflotskaya Street

“There was a warehouse above the river,
and there an acquaintance of ours was
working when Ukrainians shot them dead.
Gennady Mikhailovich and two other men
were lying dead right in the middle of the
yard. There he walked near the river, where
there were building materials. If he had
known, he would have run away.

We were evacuated on the morning of
15 March. The Wagner guys came from our street. And at the bottom
of the street there were Ukrainian mortars or self-propelled guns.
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We no longer had half of the house, the roof was gone and the
window glass obviously was gone as well. The house was large, and the
windows were huge. We hung blankets across the windows to protect
ourselves from the draught, and we practically did not go into that
room. When I once was in that room, Ukrainian Armed Forces’ bullets
flew around. I ducked. As I understood, they stood and fired at the
perimeter. The bullets flew into the brick, and then a mortar started
shooting. The Ukrainians fired”.

Testimony 52

Alyona Alexandrovna. Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol

“We all lived in basements. Here, on the territory of the houses 29,
23 and 27 there was a fight. We were knocked about by the Ukrainian
military. They knocked us about and started knocking around civilians
from their flats. A shell hit the first apartment on the ground floor.
An old woman from that flat was just taken down into the basement,
because she could not walk. And look what happened to the apartment.
We tried to extinguish fire ourselves. Look how well our ‘defenders’
‘defended’ us. All the houses were burnt down. On the third floor
where I live, there is a big hole. They fired from the house 29. Since
there is no glass in the entrance, they got into our apartment. Now
there is no bathroom, no toilet, no home.

They said the Donetsk Republic Forces were knocking out the
Ukrainians forces, but there was no one there except us”.
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Testimony 53

Arkady Nikolayevich Shelest (53 years old).
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Mariupol

“I was filming, I have a video of how
they smashed my house with a mortar.
Nine-storied buildings are located on the
Metallurgists Prospect. I just stood filming
a video how the 120" mortar hit civilians’
houses. I stood on the balcony and saw
how one mortar banged, then another
one, then it hit the roof of a nine-storied
building opposite. Then I realized that they were hitting close to us.
I ran out into the elevator shaft to the entrance, and then it banged so
loud. I live on the sixth floor. The ninth floor was completely taken
out, not the whole floor, but an apartment and a balcony were ruined.
On the eighth floor a balcony was taken out, and up to the third floor
the whole house was without glass windows.

I know for sure that it was Ukrainian forces. They fired mortars
from two to five kilometers. I clearly knew that Ukrainian troops were
then stationed there. Azov is a part of the AFU, as I understand, that is,
so the Ukrainian Forces should be responsible for the actions of Azov.

Therefore, for me Azov and the AFU are the same.

I went to my parents and constantly every morning GAZ-66 mortars
were seen with four-barreled Vasilek mortars. They regularly shelled
just the civilian houses from five to six in the morning. We did not have
any military nearby, no one. They destroyed houses just like that. Four
houses were ruined and two people killed just in front of our eyes”.

Testimony 54

Stanislav Nikolayevich Ivanov (69 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol, Fyedorov Street

“On the corner of Sumsky Lane and Volkhovskaya Street I saw
on the right from me a man in a camouflage uniform. I recognized
this person. I had issues with him before. He was a ‘sniffer’ for the
Right Sector. He wore a German uniform, even the patch on the jacket
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was with the flag of Germany. The Right
Sector wore such jackets.

I saw that a grenade exploded in front
of me. He fired and I didn’t understand
right away and did not fall, and then
there was the second shot, and I fell and
heard that he had reloaded and shot at me
with his grenade launcher. The distance
between us was about 30 meters. With
such shooting, the effect is small, you
need to lift the barrel, so he shot on the
ground and killed my brother Valery. My
brother died from injuries received on the spot. Before that the person
who shot shouted: ‘Die, dog!’.

I have a bilateral fracture of my left leg, a penetrating wound and
a right fragmentation wound. My hand is broken. It was torn like this.
The doctors treated it and connected pieces together. The curb on the
pavement turned and made a little hill, so I crawled, there up to my
waist and covered my head. I do not know what he fired from, but this
is the wound. I covered my head, put it under this curb. I thought that
if the bullet would touch the hand it would bounce off and fly away, but
would not pierce my head.

I started screaming and my neighbour pulled me out. The one
who was shooting, stood at first, then took a grenade and hid it in the
ruined house. My son came with my son-in-law, they loaded me on a
wheelbarrow. The man who was shooting was Evgeniy Slivak. He lives
on 135, Bogdan Street. His son and his nephew serve in the Azov”.

Testimony 55

Lyubov Petrovna Butko. Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Novotoshkovskoye

“Once we wanted to get water from the wells, but that place was
shelled by Ukrainians. We needed to drink water, you understand
how it is without water. Ukrainians fired, so we had to look for an
opportunity. Four times it was possible to run to the spring, it was 1 km
from our house, so we prepared canisters and cans. If you didn’t make
it, then that’s it, full shelling begins.
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They fired from machine guns.They could kill us. Later, when we
left, those other people who went there, and were shot. There were
both wounded and dead.

We are in it for 8 years and we know who are shooting. Once
there was a man Korolko. He went to the military administration and
complained that Ukrainians were firing, so he disappeared. He was
beaten up a lot. He was gone for a week and beaten. Then he died”.

In many cases the AFU inflicted targeted rocket-artillery or mortar
strikes on accumulations of civilian population during the distribution
of humanitarian aid, collection of water or evacuation. Such cases are
outright war crimes.

Testimony 56

Valery Viktorovich Mikhailenko.
Place of residence at the time of the survey —
Severodonetsk

“There was an Islamic centre here.
They gave water to people. There is a
well there. Ukrainian shelling started.
Five people were killed. We buried them,
there are still skeletons left. They saw
what they were firing at. People came,
took water, and 1 was operating the
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generator for water there. Four shootings were at the town and six or
seven shells here. They were shooting here because there were many
people here. It was on 14 May 2022”.

Testimony 57

Natalya Grigorievna Spesivtseva

(48 years old). Place of residence at the time
of the survey — Mariupol, Cheryomushki
Micro-District

“I was a witness and a participant of
these events. The first of them, which
shocked and surprised, was on 8 March.
There was a beautiful sunny day, my
neighbours and 1 (there were four of
us) decided to go get some water. We
only had water at the spring which was
quite far from our house. The spring was
located in the Luhanska Street. It’s a fifteen minute walk from where
we live. This is also Primorsky District, closer to the Morskoy station.
That way you need to go down the Fyodorov Street. It was the only
source of water at that time, because people did not actually have a
supply of water. It was on 8 March. We thought it would be a wonderful
calm Women’s Day, and decided to go for water. But unfortunately,
we only managed to cross Krasnoflotskaya Street, reach our house of
prayer (it is very close), and Ukrainians started firing at us.

Later we found out that on Novorossiyskaya Street in multi-storied
apartment blocks the battalion Azov located their mortars. Somehow
through our entire walk the fragments and bullets flew under our feet.
Something was constantly banging under our feet. When we stood on
Krasnoflotskaya Street, something shot somewhere and fell under our
feet. Along the entire route, as we ran home, under our feet there were
some explosions and flashes.

And the second time I was also a witness of such an event, when
we were brought humanitarian aid and bread from Rozovka. It was
the second time when the bread truck came to us. A large number of
people gathered at the Patch (Pyatachok) in the Primorye District. We
had a shopping complex Primorye there.
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The bread truck stood at the crossroads at Krasnoflotskaya Street.
It’s just almost opposite the shopping complex Primorye. The battalion
Azov was located there as well. They had a base there. For some reason
the bread truck decided to stand exactly at that place and distribute
bread. The Azov fighters also drove up, asked what we were standing
there for and people happily answered that they were receiving bread.
Those guys grinned: ‘Well, stay and get your bread’, and they left.

Then something told me that I had to leave, I had to run and not
wait for bread. I left the queue without bread and in about 5—10 minutes
in this direction the shelling of the ‘bread truck’ and the people, who
stood in line, started. I h